1970

## **James D. Christensen and Betty Christensen v. Henry Cordova : Appellant's Brief**

### STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action for personal injuries and property damage arising out of an automobile accident.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried without a jury, after a demand for jury trial was denied, as more completely set forth in Statement of Facts. During the trial, Plaintiff James D. Christensen was permitted to add a claim for his personal injuries, in addition to his claim for property damage. The Court granted Judgment for the Plaintiffs.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

For reasons appearing in this recital, we are separating the facts into two categories.

### MATERIAL FACTS

This suit arose out of an automobile accident wherein Defendant drove his car into the rear of the Plaintiffs' vehicle. Liability was clear, and we need not go into more detail.

Mr. Christensen sued for property damage only. Mrs. Christensen sued for personal injuries. The suit was filed on September 4, 1968 (R-1). Attorney Wilde filed an appearance for the Defendant on October 1, 1968 (R-4).

On October 14, 1968, a Stipulation was filed, signed by the attorneys of record, and the Defendant, that the Defendant was uninsured — a peculiar stipulation in a tort action. On November 25th, a Withdrawal of Counsel was signed by the Defendant's Attorney, and signed as received by the Defendant. On the same date, November 25th, a Notice of Readiness for Trial was filed in the Clerk's office. No mailing certificate is attached indicating any notice was given to the Defendant, but indicating that notice was sent to the withdrawn attorney. Nothing appears that the Defendant himself was ever notified, as required by 78-51-36, U.C.A. A doctor's report was attached to the Notice of Readiness for Trial concerning only the injuries of Mrs. Christensen.

On June 19, 1968, five days before the scheduled trial, an Appearance was filed by Defendant's present



## IMMATERIAL FACTS

The following facts influenced the Lower Court in its decisions against the Defendant.

The *Plaintiffs* were insured under a Liability Policy containing an Uninsured Motorist Provision. This coverage agrees to pay to the Plaintiffs the amount which they are legally entitled to recover from an uninsured motorist. The policy affords absolutely no insurance to the uninsured motorist. However, the uninsured motorist, (in this case Mr. Cordova), and the Company have a common interest — i.e. that the damages awarded be reasonable for the injuries sustained.

As recited in the Affidavit of Plaintiff's Attorney, negotiations for settlement between Plaintiffs' Attorneys and the insurance company, Reserve Insurance Company, did not result in a settlement. No notice was given to the Defendant personally of any of the negotiations, or of the progress of the suit. No notice was ever given him to secure counsel, or of the impending trial.

Inasmuch as the Plaintiffs and the Insurance Company could not agree on a settlement, and because of the imminence of the trial date, Plaintiffs and the Insurance Company were faced with the following:

1. That Plaintiffs were insistent on proceeding with the trial, which of course, would have been a default proceeding.
2. The insurance company, by the terms of the policy, would not recognize or be bound by a

Default Judgment, inasmuch as the language of the policy specifically provided:

“No judgment against any person or organization alleged to be legally responsible for the bodily injury shall be conclusive, as between the insured and the company, of the issues of liability of such person or organization or of the amount of damages to which the insured is legally entitled; unless such judgment is entered pursuant to an action prosecuted by the insured with the written consent of the company.” (See Stipulation for Addition to Record on Appeal.)

3. Following the default judgment (had it been secured by Plaintiffs) a separate suit would necessarily be required to test the validity of the judgment, and the defenses under the policy, and the foregoing provision of the policy.

To avoid a multiplicity of suits, and to establish the legal liability of the uninsured motorist, the Company, in effect, agreed to a *jury* trial for that purpose, and to pay the attorney's fees involved. The Defendant, Mr. Cordova, was fully advised of the above, and consented to the arrangement. NO INSURANCE COVERAGE WAS PROVIDED HIM, and it was understood in writing that if the Plaintiffs were paid the amount of the judgment, the judgment would not be satisfied. Further, the Company reserved the right given by the policy, to take legal action in the name of the insured to recover said amount from the Defendant. However, again, the Defendant and the Company did not have a conflict in their mutual desire to establish the damages as reasonably as possible.

For the above reasons, L. E. Midgley, with Defendant's permission, appeared as Attorney for the Defendant and demanded a jury trial on the same date as the appearance was filed. The Plaintiffs' Attorneys successfully resisted the motion for a jury trial, and over Defendant's objections a non-jury trial was held.

#### POINT ONE

#### THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT A JURY TRIAL.

We fully appreciate the pronouncements of this Court to the effect that where a demand for jury trial is not timely made, it is in the sound discretion of the Trial Court as to whether a belated demand for jury trial will be granted.

*Thompson vs. Anderson*, 107 Ut. 331, 153 P2d 665.

*Hunter vs. Michaelis*, 114 Ut. 242, 198 P2d 245.

*Webb vs. Webb*, 116 Ut. 115, 209 P2d 201.

*Farmers and Merchants Bank vs. Universal C.I.T.*,  
4 Ut.2d 155, 289 P2d 1045.

*James Manufacturing Company vs. Wilson*, 15  
Ut.2d 210, 390 P2d 127.

*Sweeney vs. Happy Valley, Inc.*, 18 Ut.2d 113, 417  
P2d 126.

The true test, we submit, for the Court to consider in granting or denying a belated demand for jury trial, is whether excusable neglect on the part of the party demanding the jury, is shown.

In *Thompson vs. Anderson, Supra*, this Honorable Court stated:

“Nor is it an abuse of discretion to fail to grant a demand for a jury trial when made late, if no excuse is shown for failure to make a demand within the time allowed by statute.” (Emphasis ours)

In *Farmers and Merchants Bank vs. Universal C.I.T.*, Supra. this Court again stated:

“Where, as here, no valid excuse for the failure to make the demand timely was offered, there is no abuse of discretion on the part of the Trial Court in denying a later demand.”

In the instant case, the Defendant was without counsel on the very day a Certificate of Readiness for Trial was filed, and even that Notice was not served on the Defendant personally. He was never notified to secure counsel. Many months later, the clerk, over the signature of the Presiding Judge, forwarded a Notice of the trial date to the Plaintiffs' Attorneys and to the attorney who had long since withdrawn. That Notice (R-10) in the last paragraph states:

“This matter is set for a non-jury trial, unless the jury fee has been paid heretofore. If a jury trial is desired, the statutory fee must be paid no later than 10 days from the date of this letter, with notice thereof being served on opposing counsel.”

NO NOTICE OF TRIAL DATE WAS GIVEN THE DEFENDANT AND A COPY OF THE FOREGOING LETTER WAS NOT FORWARDED TO HIM.

When Defendant's present Attorney filed his Appearance, only six days before the scheduled trial, the

Defendant had been without representation by an Attorney for almost nine months, during which time, unknown to him, there was a fight going on in the bleachers, involving an insurance company he probably didn't know existed.

When his present Attorney moved for a jury trial immediately upon his filing the appearance, and upon argument of the Motion, the Honorable Judge Croft requested an Affidavit of the Plaintiffs' Attorneys concerning the fight in the bleachers, BUT NO TIME WAS GIVEN THE DEFENDANT PERSONALLY to file a counter affidavit, for the simple reason that no time was left before the trial date.

Never in the spotty career of the writer, have we seen first hand such a complete lack of interest of all parties, including the Court, of the rights of a litigant. Never have we seen an Affidavit covering absolutely immaterial actions of a non-litigant used so effectively in prejudicing the rights of a litigant.

In this case, we are concerned with the Defendant, Mr. Cordova, and not with Reserve Insurance Company, who had the unmitigated gall to disagree with Plaintiffs' Attorneys on the value of Plaintiffs' claim against the Defendant.

#### POINT TWO

THE DEFENDANT, BY RECEIPTING HIS ATTORNEY'S NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL, IS DEEMED TO BE APPEARING PRO SE, AND FAILURE TO GIVE HIM NOTICE OF ALL SUBSEQUENT PROCEEDINGS WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Article I, Sec. 11, Utah Constitution provides:

“ . . . and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in the State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.”

78-51-36, Utah Code Annotated States:

“NOTICE TO APPOINT SUCCESSOR —  
When an Attorney dies, or is removed or suspended, or ceases to act as such, a party to an action or proceeding for whom he was acting as Attorney must before any further proceedings are had against him, be required by the adverse party, by written notice, to appoint another attorney or to appear in person.” (Emphasis added)

We are well aware of this Court’s decision in *Security Adjustment Bureau, Inc. vs. West*, 20 Ut. 2nd 292, 437 P2d 214, and we agree with Mr. Justice Henriod’s comment in footnote 4 to the effect that the rule is subject to “some legitimate criticism and analysis.”

The “analysis,” not considered in the above case, is clear. When a Defendant “appears” by counsel, the later withdrawal by his Attorney does not, and cannot alter the fact that the Defendant has still “appeared” in the law suit. His Answer to the Complaint denying the Plaintiffs’ allegations is not affected, and remains as a general denial. By simple subtraction, therefore, when his Attorney withdraws, the Defendant’s “appearance” is without counsel, or pro se.

The fact that the Defendant is not schooled in the niceties of pleading and practice is of no concern. He

has a constitutional right to be notified of all subsequent developments. If he receives notice of each step in the litigation, and takes no action, he is properly bound by the ultimate conclusion of the case.

But if it be the decision of the *Security Adjustment* case that it is justice and fair play to completely ignore the rights of a litigant even though his Attorney has withdrawn (when his rights should be more closely scrutinized) the facts in the case at bar are clearly distinguishable.

The Notice of Withdrawal of Defendant's Attorney was signed as received by the Defendant personally. By that action, he not only acknowledged but *consented* to the withdrawal. He also effectively "appeared" individually. Notice of this was given to Plaintiffs' counsel.

The form of his appearance is immaterial. The law is interested in justice, not forms. For example, a long hand note written by a Defendant to the Clerk of the Court, or the Court, in answer to a Summons and Complaint served on him, is universally accepted as an effective Answer, even though it does not in any way comply with the requirements of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Certainly, in that analogous situation, all further notices and proceedings must be given to the Defendant, whether or not there is a further requirement that he be notified to secure counsel.

We further submit that there is a long standing custom and practice of the District Courts, and particu-

larly the Third District, that when an Attorney withdraws, the other party must give notice to the unrepresented party to secure counsel. If he does not, notices are mailed to him personally.

After his Attorney withdrew, the Defendant was completely ignored by Plaintiffs' Attorneys and the Clerk of the Court. The Honorable Presiding Judge sanctioned those actions denying this Defendant the right to represent himself, if he so chose.

The Defendant, therefore, is entitled to a new trial.

### POINT THREE

#### THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY PERMITTED PLAINTIFF JAMES D. CHRISTENSEN TO ADD A CLAIM OF PERSONAL INJURIES DURING THE TRIAL.

Again we are discussing the interests of the Defendant, Mr. Cordova, and not Reserve Insurance Company, Plaintiffs' insurer. There is no question that Reserve was aware of the claim for injuries by Mr. Christensen, which were advanced after the law suit was started. But the Defendant, personally, was completely unaware of such a claim. While he was originally represented by Attorney Wilde, no claim for injuries was advanced either in the Complaint, or otherwise. No Notice was given him of such a claim until during the progress of the trial. During the trial, the amendment was objected to by Defendant, through his Attorney, but the Honorable Trial Judge permitted the amendment and Judgment was awarded for injuries which Defendant had never known existed.

## Rule 15 (a) AMENDMENTS, U.R.C.P.

“A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, he may so amend it at any time within 20 days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires. A party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within 10 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be the longer, unless the court otherwise orders.”

## Rule 15 (b) AMENDMENTS TO CONFORM TO THE EVIDENCE, U.R.C.P.

“When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the grounds that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits. The court

shall grant a continuance, if necessary, to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence.”

In *Hjorth vs. Whittenberg*, 121 Utah 324, 241 P2d 907 held that the test of whether the Amendment should be granted, was whether the amendment imported a new and different cause of action.

Certainly the addition of a new claim for personal injuries while the trial is in progress, injects a new and different cause of action, the merits of which create new and different defenses than to a claim solely for property damage.

True, Plaintiffs' insurer had been advised of the claim, as was Defendant's present Attorney. But by the same token, so were Plaintiffs' Attorneys, who failed to move for an amendment, as required by the Rules. The *Defendant* had no knowledge of such a claim, and his rights are at issue here.

The allowance of the amendment, therefore, was prejudicially erroneous.

Respectfully submitted,

L. E. MIDGLEY  
Attorney for Defendant-  
Appellant

702 El Paso Natural Gas Bldg.  
Salt Lake City, Utah