1970

James D. Christensen and Betty Christensen v. Henry Cordova : Respondent's Brief

STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiffs filed this action against defendant to recover damages for personal injuries and property damage. It is from the proceedings of the Court below that defendant appeals.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Plaintiffs filed their action against defendant for personal injury and property damage arising out of an automobile accident that occurred on the 24th of August, 1968. Defendant admitted liability and the issue of damages was tried to the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson,

sitting without a jury. The trial court entered judgment in favor of plaintiff Betty Christensen and against defendant for medical expenses in the sum of \$998.29 and general damages in the sum of \$5,000.00, and in favor of plaintiff James D. Christensen and against defendant for the following amounts: Medical expenses \$232.50, property damage \$393.64, and general damages in the sum of \$750.00.

The trial court refused to grant defendant a jury trial, and defendant appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Respondents seek to have the action of the trial court affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In order for the appellate court to fully understand what has transpired in this case from its initiation to the appeal, respondents will set out the facts in detail.

On the 24th day of August, 1968, at the intersection of 2400 South Main, Bountiful, Davis County, Utah, defendant drove his car into the rear of an automobile owned and driven by plaintiff James D. Christensen, and in which his wife was riding as a passenger (R. 1, 4). Both plaintiffs sustained bodily injury as a result of the accident, and Mr. Christensen's automobile was damaged.

At the time of the accident, plaintiffs were insured under a policy of automobile liability insurance which

protected them against injury and damage from any uninsured motorist (R. 14). On August 30, 1968, plaintiffs employed Mr. Carman E. Kipp of the firm of Kipp and Christian to represent them in connection with filing suit against Mr. Cordova for the injury and damage sustained by them in the accident (R. 13). Accordingly, suit was filed in the District Court of Salt Lake County seeking damages for damage to plaintiffs' automobile and for bodily injury to plaintiff Betty Christensen, for special medical and hospital expenses incurred and general damages in the sum of \$10,000.00 (R. 2). Defendant retained attorney Eldred J. Wilde to represent him in defense of plaintiffs' action, and accordingly, an answer was filed in his behalf on October 1, 1968 (R. 4). On October 14, 1968, defendant, by and through his counsel of record, admitted that on the day of the automobile accident in question he was not insured under any policy of automobile liability insurance and was at that time an uninsured motorist within the definition of that term. A stipulation to that effect was filed by the parties and made part of the court file and the record in this case (R. 5).

On November 22, 1968, Carman E. Kipp, as counsel for plaintiffs, filed a Notice of Readiness for Trial requesting a non-jury trial and duly mailed a copy to Eldred J. Wilde, counsel for defendant, at his office, 616 Judge Building, Salt Lake City (R. 7). Thereafter, on November 25, 1968, and presumably after he had received plaintiffs' Notice of Readiness for Trial, Mr. Wilde, defendant's counsel, filed his Withdrawal of

Counsel which was received by the court on November 26. A copy of the withdrawal was mailed to plaintiff's attorney on November 26 which was several days after the filing of the Notice of Readiness for Trial (R. 6, 7). The record in this matter shows that on March 20, 1969, the District Court of Salt Lake County, Judge Aldon J. Anderson, set the matter for non-jury trial on June 24, 1969. Copies of the letter setting the case for trial were sent to both Mr. Kipp and Mr. Wilde (R. 10).

In September of 1968, Mr. Frank Nichols of Frank Nichols and Guiver Company, insurance adjusters, contacted Mr. Kipp, plaintiffs' counsel, and advised him that Mr. L. D. Wrigley of C. W. Reese Company, insurance adjusters, was the adjuster for Reserve Insurance Company on the claim for bodily injury sustained by both Mr. and Mrs. Christensen under the uninsured motorist provisions of their automobile liability insurance policy with that company (R. 14). Therefore, on September 13, 1968, Mr. Kipp wrote a letter to Mr. Wrigley advising him that an action had been filed by the Christensens against Mr. Cordova. The letter also advised the adjuster that Mr. Kipp was representing Reserve Insurance Company's insureds, and copies of the Summons and Complaint were enclosed in the letter along with a list of medical bills and other specials for both plaintiffs incurred up to that time (R. 14).

On numerous occasions thereafter, Mr. Kipp contacted Mr. Wrigley or someone in the office of C. W. Reese Company advising them of the status of the law-

suit and furnishing them with up to date medical specials as incurred by both plaintiffs and supplying them with current medical reports (R. 14). As a part of the continuous contact between Mr. Kipp and the adjuster, Mr. Wrigley, on behalf of the company, requested that both Mr. and Mrs. Christensen submit to an independent medical examination by Dr. Reed Clegg. Accordingly, the plaintiffs were examined by Dr. Clegg and copies of the medical report were sent to the adjuster. A copy of the stipulation between plaintiffs and defendant wherein Mr. Cordova admitted that he did not have automobile liability insurance at the time the accident occurred was also sent to the adjuster (R. 14).

On two occasions, Reserve Insurance Company, by and through its adjuster, requested that Mr. Kipp submit an offer of settlement on the claims of both plaintiffs. Offers to settle were submitted to the company pursuant to both requests, neither of which was accepted and without any counter-offer having been made by the company (R. 15).

On or about June 18, 1969, Reserve Insurance Company employed Mr. L. E. Midgley to represent defendant Henry Cordova because of the uninsured motorist provision in the policy issued to plaintiffs, and on that day, Mr. Midgley filed a Demand and Motion for Jury Trial and mailed a copy of same to plaintiffs' attorneys. The Motion for a Jury Trial was resisted by counsel for plaintiff who advised the presiding judge, Bryant Croft, of the matters essentially set forth in the statement of

facts herein. Plaintiffs' counsel was instructed to file his affidavit setting forth the facts as related at the hearing on the motion. The affidavit was filed (R. 13-15), and the Motion for a Jury Trial was denied on June 23, 1969 (R. 12). Defendant did not file his counter affidavit to the assertions made by plaintiffs' counsel as to what the facts were in this matter, nor did he request permission to file one.

The case was tried on June 24, 1969, before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, sitting without a jury. At the commencement of the trial, Mr. Midgley, counsel for the insurance company and defendant, admitted liability on the part of Mr. Cordova. Plaintiffs' counsel made a motion to include the bodily injury claim of plaintiff James D. Christensen for trial, which motion was granted over Mr. Midgley's objection (R. 17).

Counsel for the insurance company and Mr. Cordova did not call any witnesses at the trial but contented himself with cross-examining plaintiffs' witnesses. Dr. Reed Clegg, who performed the independent medical examination on behalf of the insurance company, was not called by the company's counsel to reveal to the court his findings as to the nature and extent of the injuries of both plaintiffs.

It is from the court's refusal to grant a jury trial in this action that Reserve Insurance Company prosecutes this appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT AND PROCEEDINGS IN THE LOWER COURT ARE PRESUMED TO BE CORRECT BY THE REVIEWING COURT ON APPEAL.

The cases overwhelmingly support the general proposition of law stated in Point I., and especially as it applies to the instant case. No cases have been found by respondents stating a contrary position.

Not only is there a presumption of validity on appeal of the judgment and proceeding in the lower court, but the burden is on the appellant affirmatively to demonstrate error, and in the absence of such the judgment must be affirmed by the reviewing court. *Leithead v. Adair*, 10 U.2d 282, 351 P.2d 956; *Coombs v. Perry*, 2 U.2d 381, 275 P.2d 680. Again, on appeal the judgment of the trial court is presumptively correct and every reasonable intendment must be indulged in by the appellate court in favor of it. *Burton v. Zions Co-operative Mercantile Institution*, 122 Utah 360, 249 P.2d 514; *Nagle v. Club Fontainblue*, 17 U. 2d 125, 405 P.2d 346; *Petty v. Gindy Manufacturing Corporation*, 17 U.2d 32, 404 P.2d 30.

This proposition of law is correct and is binding upon the appellate court whether the proceedings in the lower court are before a judge only or a judge and jury.

Other cases supporting this proposition are *Charlton v. Hackett*, 11 U.2d 389, 360 P.2d 176; *Universal In-*

vestment Company v. Carpets, Inc., 16 U.2d 336, 400 P.2d 564; *Taylor v. Johnson*, 15 U.2d 342, 398 P.2d 382; *Wendelboe v. Jacobson*, 10 U.2d 344, 353 P.2d 178; *Hadley v. Wood*, 9 U.2d 366, 345 P.2d 197; *Daisy Distributors, Inc., Local Union 976, Joint Council 67, Western Conference of Teamsters*, 8 U.2d 124, 329 P.2d 414.

POINT II.

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFEN- DANT A JURY TRIAL.

Rule 38 (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides as follows:

“Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury by paying the statutory jury fee and serving upon the other parties a demand therefor in writing at any time after the commencement of the action and not later than shall be fixed by rule of the court in which the action is pending. Such demand may be endorsed upon a pleading of the party.”

This particular provision reserving the right to a trial of any issue triable of right by a jury not to be in conflict with the Constitution of the State of Utah, Article I, Sec. 10. *State v. Cherry*, 22 Utah 1, 60 Pac. 1103.

It is obvious, then, that the failure of a party to pay the statutory jury fee and make his demand for a jury trial in accordance with the rules promulgated by the court where the action is pending constitutes a waiver by that party of a trial by jury. Rule 38(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

In the instant case, plaintiffs counsel filed a Notice of Readiness for Trial demanding that the matter be set for non-jury trial. A copy of said notice was duly mailed to Eldred J. Wilde at his office on November 22, 1968 (R. 17). It is important to note that Mr. Wilde was still acting as defendant's attorney at that time. He did not file his withdrawal as counsel until November 25, 1968 (R. 6). There can be no doubt that defendant was put on notice that plaintiff demanded a non-jury trial and certainly at that time he took no action to demand a jury trial.

Subsequently, and on March 20, 1969, the District Court of Salt Lake County, the court in which the case was pending, sent notice to both parties by sending said notice to their respective counsel, and in the case of defendant, his last known counsel, which notice provided in part as follows:

“ * * * This matter is set for a non-jury trial unless the jury fee has been paid heretofore. If a jury trial is desired, the statutory fee must be paid no later than ten days from the date of this letter, with notice thereof being served on opposing counsel.

Very truly yours,
s/ Aldon J. Anderson
Aldon J. Anderson
Presiding Judge
Courtroom No. 9
5th Floor, Courts Building
240 East 4th South
Salt Lake City, Utah

AJA :mts
cc: Eldred J. Wilde
616 Judge Building”

Whether or not Mr. Wilde advised defendant of his receipt of the notice from the District Court is not known; however, the court acted properly in sending the notice to Mr. Wilde since he was defendant's last known attorney and no notice had been sent to either plaintiffs or the court of the appearance of or the name and address of new counsel.

Title 78-51-34, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides as follows:

“Change of attorney.—The attorney in any action or special proceeding may be changed at any time before judgment or final determination as follows:

(1) Upon his own consent, filed with the clerk or entered upon the minutes.

(2) * * * * *

The next following section of the Code, Title 78-51-35, states:

“Effect—Notice of change.—When an attorney is changed as provided in the next preceding section, written notice of the change and of the substitution of a new attorney or of the appearance of the party in person must be given to the adverse party; until then he must recognize the former attorney.”

The record shows that Eldred Wilde, defendant's attorney, voluntarily withdrew as counsel for Mr. Cordova pursuant to 78-51-34(1), Utah Code Annotated, 1953. After his withdrawal and until Mr. Midgley appeared as counsel for defendant, both the court and plaintiffs counsel were compelled to recognize Eldred

Wilde as attorney for defendant pursuant to 78-51-35, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. This was necessitated by the failure of defendant and Reserve Insurance Company to notify counsel or the court of the name and address of defendant's new lawyer. As a matter of fact, neither Mr. Cordova nor Reserve Insurance Company were interested enough to even bother about new counsel for defendant until sunrise of the trial day.

In the case of *Salina Canyon Coal Company v. Klemm*, 76 Utah 372, 290 Pac. 161, the Utah Supreme Court held, on construing the provisions of 78-51-35, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, that an attorney who has appeared for a party in a case may be treated as such by opposing counsel until opposing counsel are notified by the dismissal or change of attorneys. A Notice of Appeal may be served upon him and that shall be sufficient notice to the opposite party.

Title 78-51-36, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is not in point or controlling in this case since Mr. Cordova's attorney, Eldred Wilde, did not die, nor was he removed as counsel, nor was he suspended from the practice of law, nor did he cease to act as an attorney. He only ceased to act as attorney for defendant while remaining very actively engaged in the practice of law.

Our high court has also addressed itself to the problem of interpreting 78-51-36, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. In the case of *Security Adjustment Bureau, Inc. v. West*, 20 U.2d 292, 437 P.2d 214, the court held that this particular statute did not entitle defendant to have a de-

fault judgment set aside which had been taken against him when his attorney withdrew even though plaintiff had not demanded that defendant get new counsel and there was nothing in the record to indicate that defendant's withdrawing counsel had died, was removed or was suspended from the practice of law.

Plaintiffs could not agree with defendant more when he states the law to the effect that where a demand for a jury trial is not timely made, it is in the sound discretion of the trial court as to whether a belated demand for a jury trial will be granted. *Thompson v. Anderson*, 107 Utah 331, 153 P.2d 665; *Hunter v. Michaels*, 114 Utah 242, 198 P.2d 245; *Webb v. Webb*, 116 Utah 115, 209 P.2d 201; *Farmers and Merchants Bank v. Universal C.I.T.*, 4 U.2d 210, 390 P.2d 127; *Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc.*, 18 U.2d 113, 417 P.2d 126.

Defendant, Mr. Cordova, was not without counsel on the day that the Notice of Readiness for Trial was filed. Mr. Cordova knew that his counsel had withdrawn for he received a copy of the Notice of Withdrawal on November 25, 1968, the same day it was mailed to plaintiffs' counsel. Undoubtedly, Mr. Wilde advised defendant of the Notice of Readiness that had been filed. Neither Mr. Cordova nor Reserve Insurance Company, his alter ego, took any action to have new counsel appointed for defendant until five days before the trial. Until then the court and counsel for plaintiffs recognized Eldred Wilde as defendant's attorney.

After sitting on their hands for some seven months, the insurance company breathlessly rushed into court on June 20, 1969, waving its legal arms shouting platitudes about the right of defendant to a jury trial. It is interesting that the company had never shown so much interest before in the rights of Mr. Cordova and even before hiring Mr. Midgley it reserved its rights under the Christensen policy giving it the right to recover against Mr. Cordova any amount the company is required to pay plaintiffs.

This is a strange relationship indeed unless we realize that Reserve Insurance Company is not at all concerned about the rights of the uninsured defendant but only with what result will ultimately affect its inner pocket.

POINT III.

THE DEFENDANT, BY RECEIPTING HIS ATTORNEY'S NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL, WAS NOT DEEMED TO BE APPEARING PRO SE, AND FAILURE TO GIVE HIM NOTICE OF ALL SUBSEQUENT PROCEEDINGS WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

In the interest of brevity, plaintiffs incorporate the applicable and relevant portions of Point II into Point III of this brief.

Defendant's point that after the withdrawal of his counsel he was deemed to be appearing pro se and it was error to fail to personally give him notice of all

subsequent proceedings is not well taken. The law and discussion under Point II of this brief is cited and especially as that discussion relates to 78-51-34, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

But the gut issue in this case is not at all whether Mr. Cordova had notice of the trial setting but whether Reserve Insurance Company was aware of the status of the case at all times. Mr. Cordova never employed an attorney to represent him after Eldred Wilde withdrew as his counsel. He did not approach the insurance company and request that it obtain legal help to assist him in his defense of this case. The company contacted him, explained to defendant what it proposed to do and the greatest effort to which it could spur defendant was to merely obtain his consent to having the insurance company's attorney represent him.

Surely Mr. Cordova was advised by the company that he would be protected from plaintiffs' claim and that it would employ their counsel to do it. However, the company, while assuring defendant that in the interests of justice it would protect the downtrodden and the uninsured, especially if the company could be injured in any way by its not doing so, and at the same time reserved its right to collect from this same downtrodden and uninsured any amount that his savior should have to pay plaintiffs.

The statements in Appellant's Brief to the contrary notwithstanding, we are confronted here, not with Mr. Cordova, but with Reserve Insurance Company who

was not responsible enough to reject the offers of settlement solicited from plaintiffs' counsel or to make a counter-offer.

One more interesting aspect of the case should be noted here. Appellant has made no issue with the amount of the judgment awarded plaintiffs and has therefore impliedly admitted that the amount awarded was reasonable—and so it was. Other than having the case tried by a jury, appellant makes no claim of any prejudicial error in the trial. Defendant does not contend that if the matter is remanded for a jury trial that the amount of damages will be less than awarded by the court. Certainly he could not hope to have eight just men and true pass on the liability of the case since counsel for the insurance company admitted liability at the trial.

It is obvious that a new trial would achieve nothing but a multiplicity of suits.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY PERMIT PLAINTIFF JAMES D. CHRISTENSEN ADD A CLAIM OF PERSONAL INJURIES AT THE TIME OF THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE TRIAL.

Again it should be pointed out that we are here discussing Reserve Insurance Company and not Mr. Cordova. In this case, judgment has been entered against defendant but no effort has been made by plaintiffs to satisfy the judgment against him even though no supersedeas bond has been filed in this matter. Plaintiffs have

an insurance policy with Reserve Insurance Company whereby the company agrees to pay plaintiffs for damages caused to them by any uninsured motorist. Mr. Cordova is uninsured. The amount of the judgment is within the policy limits of the uninsured motorist coverage provided. How says, then, appellant that the company is not involved. It is attempting to disguise, hide and mingle its monetary interests with those of an uninsured and probably impecunious individual in order to gain sympathy for its dollar position.

After plaintiffs' counsel filed the complaint setting forth the bodily injury claim of plaintiff Betty Christensen and the property damage claim of plaintiff James D. Christensen, Mr. L. D. Wrigley, the company's adjuster, was notified of the bodily injury claim of Mr. Christensen. Copies of medical bills and reports on Mrs. Christensen were mailed to the adjuster. On behalf of the company, he demanded an independent medical examination on both plaintiffs by a doctor of the company's choosing. Twice the adjuster requested that offers of settlement be made for the claims of both plaintiffs and twice offers were made. On neither occasion did the offer generate a yea or nay from the Company.

It is not known by counsel for plaintiffs whether Mr. Midgley was employed by L. D. Wrigley, the adjuster, or directly by the company. In either event, he would have the company's file on the whole case which would reveal the contents of the adjuster's file. How says appellant, then, that the claim for bodily injury of

plaintiff James D. Christensen came as a bolt out of the blue so that the company's counsel was shocked into insensibility at the trial and was caused to stumble about the court room in wonder and amazement at the recent turn of events.

Plaintiffs respectfully assert that the real party in interest in this case, Reserve Insurance Company, was well aware of the bodily injury claim of Mr. Christensen and certainly well knew that such a claim would be asserted at the trial and that because of its course of conduct with plaintiffs' counsel, waived its right to resist the presentation of said claim at that time and is estopped from so resisting it.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, authorities and argument, plaintiffs urge the Court to affirm the judgment of the trial court and award plaintiffs their costs expended on this appeal.